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The Samuel T. Hayes House is located on the south side of the Sulphur Well Road 
approximately 15 miles from downtown ^exington. It is on a standardbred horse farm 
of approximately 300 acres and is presently called Avondale Farm.

Facing north, the structure is a two-story, three-bay brick building with nipped 
roof erected in 185^ (photo i). This handsome Greek Revival house belongs to the 
"Winchester Pike group" (the Winchester Pike is a major road located near Sulphur Well 
Road) according to architectural historian Clay Lancaster. Typical architectural ; 
features in this grouping are broad- pilastered facades, hipped roofs, compact massing and 
heavy Grecian woodwork. The house has a "primitive" but elegant datestone near the 
dentillated entablature on the two-story rear ell with the initials of the "builder and 
the date

The house is L-shaped with an enclosed double porch on the inside of the L and a 
one-room frame addition on the rear (photo 4 ). The brick pattern is seven rows of 
stretchers, then one row of header-stretchers set on a smooth stone foundation which 
is bush- hammered and edged. Unusual is the elaborate "Tudor" entrance porch (photo 2 )  
As described by Clay Lancaster, the porch has "octagonal stone piers incorporated with 
traceried Tudor arches and railing around the upper deck, a. central doorway upstairs 
as well as down." The facade is divided into bays by broad pilasters and mounted by 
a deep entablature with a denticulated cornice. Triple windows on the facade have 
bush-hammered stone sills; projecting cornices rest on posts separating six-over-six- 
paned center sections from four-paned sidelights. , . . The double front door 
has etched glass; three paneled sidelights are angled ana receded and, with the seven- paned 
transom, lights the central hall (photo 3) .

On the interior, the main block of the house is two rooms deep with a central 
stairhall running from front to rear. The two main parlors are separated by full- 
length folding doors. There are recessed panels under the windows in the two lower 
floor front rooms. Throughout the house, all the door frames have paneled jambs but 
vary from eared ones to paneled posts supporting full entablatures to simple ones with 
corner blocks (photo 6). Most of the doors are Greek Revival having two vertical 
panels. The few alterations consist mainly of the stairrail and spindles which were 
removed by a former owner in 19&3 an(^ replaced by turned spindles and a blocky Victorian 
newel post. The mantels, except in the double parlor, are original and are Greek 
Revival with plain pilasters but with Gothic openings (photo T)- The mantels in the 
parlors are fine Italianate marble mantels with rope mouldings. These plus a pair of 
superb brass New Grecian chandeliers and mantel mirrors were placed in the house by the 
previous owner Mr. John Scott, who brought them from the now demolished Scott family 
house at 328 North Limestone Street, Lexington (a Greek Revival house built after 1846 
and remodeled into an Italianate villa about 1865).
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Elegantly situated in a grove of trees on the Sulphur Well Road, the Samuel T. 
Hayes House is an outstanding example of a late Greek Revival residence built in 
central Kentucky during the I850-60s. Its most unusual feature is the original 
elaborate Tudor entrance porch although the rest of the details speak more of the 
Greek Revival period. It has had few alterations since it was constructed in 185^ 
and the house still remains the focal point of a fine Bluegrass farm.

The house was built by Samuel T. Hayes, a prosperous landowner. Obviously due to 
financial reversals, Mr. Hayes had to sell at public auction what the deed described as 
his "country residence." The buyer was his nephew Dr. George 0. Graves, who after 
having graduated as valedictorian at Centre College and with honors from the University 
of Pennsylvania Medical School, saw his Uncle's new house and "determined if his ability 
could do so he would some time own this farm."

Graves married Keziah Hood, sister of Confederate General John B. Hood and daughter 
of a doctor under whom Graves had studied. Besides practicing medicine for 25 years, 
he became a large landowner, owning land in Bath, Montgomery. Clark and Fayette Counties. 
He eventually moved to Winchester, Kentucky (in Clark County) and gave his house and 
26^- acres to his daughter, Mary Hood Graves, and son-in-law, Richard M. Squires. 
Squires added to the property and when he died in 1918. he owned 700 acres. Mrs. Squires 
owned the house until her death in 19^8. John W. Scott, Jr. bought the farm fron later 
owners in 1958. Mr. Scott was a native Lexingtonian who, upon retiring as President 
of Corn Products Company, moved into the house. It was sold to the Dudley Shorts in 
1964- and in 1978 was bought by Mr. and Mrs. Barry Ejpstein, successful standardbred 
breeders from California.

Avondale Farm as it is presently known, continues in the Bluegrass horse 
tradition. The handsome Greek Revival house with its Gothic touches remains intact 
and represents the fine craftsmanship that flourished in central Kentucky during this 
period.

Included within the nominated area is a two-story granary with distinctive frame 
construction and delightful bargeboards on both the gable ends and the one-story shed 
roof that the surrounds the enclosed two-story portion (see photo 5). The boundarv is 
drawn to encompass this structure, as well as the main house and scenic approach to the 
complex, which is important to the visual qualities of the nomination. (Other outbuildings 
as shown on U.S.G.S. map are contemporary and do not contribute to the historic content of 
the nomination. Also, some of the structures as shown on the map are no longer standing.)
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The boundary starts at a point just southwest of the granary and runs east 
approximately 270 feet, then runs north parallel to the driveway for approximately 
950 feet. At the point at which the boundary meets the Sulphur T-'ell Road, it 
follox^s the edge of the road in a westerly direction for 275 feet. At this point,
the boundary goes south approximately 1,020 feet to a point just southwest of 
the corner of the granary.'_______________________________________________ 
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Samuel T. Hayes House 
Lexington 
Fayette County 
Kentucky

Topographic Map
Lexington-Fayette Urban County Government
Department of Parks, Housing and Community Development
1976

Scale l"=100 f 

Map 2
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Samuel T. Hayes House 
Lexington 
Fayette County 
Kentucky

Map of Fayette County. Precincts Nos. 1,2, and 6
D.G. Beers and Company; Philadelphia
1877
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